1959

## State of Utah v. Jack Zimer : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Capitalized words are ours.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The information charging the appellant, Jack Zeimer, with the crime burglary in the second degree and with the crime of being an habitual criminal was filed in the District Court of the Second Judicial District, in and for the County of Weber, State of Utah, on July 31, 1958. The above action came on for trial on

the sixth day of November, 1958. A guilty verdict was brought back on the burglary charge. The same jury was then presented evidence of the habitual criminal charge for which they also brought back a verdict of guilty. Defense counsel then moved for a mistrial on both issues. A new trial was granted as to the habitual criminal charge but denied as to the burglary conviction. In consenting to a new trial on the limited issue of being an habitual criminal the defense attorney reserved the right to object to the severance of the issues in such a manner. Counsel quotes from page 229 of the transcript:

MR. NEWY: May the record show, though, Your Honor, before we go out there that the defendant objects to this whole hearing, that the court offered to the defendant a new trial on the last page and not upon the full trial and the defendant requested a new trial as to the entire matter including the burglary charge and the court denied the new trial as to the entire matter but did offer a new trial as to the last page which was consented to by the defendant but not waiving any of his rights later to object or waiving any of his rights as to his contention that it should be an entire new trial.

"THE COURT: It may show that the court considered the motion for a new trial on the entire case and granted a new trial only as to the second page of the information."

The habitual criminal charge was tried singly before the new jury on December 18, 1959. The jury was given instructions. Exceptions were duly taken to most of the instructions which we now cite as error. The jury brought back a guilty verdict.

### STATEMENT OF POINTS

#### POINT I

The trial court committed prejudicial error in instructions numbers 2, 4, 5, 10, 12 and 13 by using such words in the instructions as would reasonably lead the jury to believe that being an habitual criminal is a crime, while as a matter of law it is a status.

#### POINT II

The trial court committed reversible error in granting a new trial as to the issue of being an habitual criminal and refusing to grant a new trial as to the primary offense, resulting in a different jury trying the habitual criminal charge contrary to the



## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

The trial court committed prejudicial error in instructions numbers 2, 4, 5, 10, 12, and 13 by using such words in the instructions as would reasonably lead the jury to believe that being an habitual criminal is a crime, while as a matter of law it is a status.

It is elementary in this field of law that being an habitual criminal is not a crime for which you can be punished; but, it is only a status that a person assumes after committing a designated number of felonies. In Utah three felonies are required for such a status to attach. 76-1-18, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

This concept was unequivocally established as a rule of law in *State v Russian*, 107 Utah 94, 152 P2d 86 (1944). In this case the defendant was charged in the same information with the crime of second degree burglary and with being an habitual criminal. The defendant was convicted of the burglary but not the habitual criminal charge. He appealed on the grounds that the

trial court refused to quash the information on the grounds that more than one offense was charged therein, and that there was no statutory authority permitting the joinder of the crimes of second degree burglary and habitual criminal. This court ruled that the trial court had not erred in refusing to quash the information on that grounds and effectively stated the law in the following quote taken from that case:

**"To be charged with being an habitual criminal is not to be charged with a crime. Being an habitual criminal is a status and subjects such person to a greater penalty than would otherwise be imposed for the crime with which he is charged."**

The above case also cited as authority for its contention American Jurisprudence, Vol 25, Page 260, which is quoted below:

**"The charge of being a second or subsequent offender does not involve accusation of a crime other than or separate from the offense principally charged. The statutes do not create a separate offense. The increased penalty for a second or subsequent conviction is intended to be held up as a warning to first offenders and to act as a deterrent to their criminal tendencies."**

This doctrine was reaffirmed in *State v Wood*, 2 Utah 2d 34, 268 P2d 996 (1954), in which this Court stated:

**"This court has held that being an habitual criminal is a status and not a crime."**

The controversy in the concept of status versus crime no longer prevails. It is well established that an habitual criminal has not committed a new crime but has assumed a new status. American and English authority supports this proposition. The foregoing discussion was necessary as preparatory remarks to point out the errors which were committed in the instructions and to point out the prejudicial effect of such instructions.

Counsel will now proceed to analyze each of the instructions which are contended as being prejudicial to the rights of the defendant-appellant.

In instructions numbers 2 and 10 the trial court used the word "offense" which implied to the jury that the defendant had committed a crime, when in law there is no such crime. The instructions referred to are quoted below: (R272) (R-275)

#### Instruction 2

"The mere fact that the defendant stands charged with an OFFENSE is not to be taken by you as any evidence of his guilt."

#### Instruction 10

"....Before any person may be convicted of this OFFENSE, there must be proof, independent of any such statement...."

It is generally understood that the word "offense" is interpreted as a crime. Also that "offense" is synonymous with crime. See 29 Words and Phrases 217; State v Rose, 89 Ohio St. 383, 106 NE 50; People v Chimovitz, 237 Mich 247, 211 NW 650. Thus by using the word "offense" the trial court disregarded the theory behind an habitual criminal charge and stated to the jury that the defendant stood charged with a crime.

The trial court in instructions numbers 2, 4, 10, 12 and 13 used the word "guilt" or guilty."

This was prejudicial for such words have no place in instructions on the status of being an habitual criminal. The following are the precise passages referred to:

#### Instruction 2 (R-272)

"....The mere fact that the defendant stands charged with an offense is not to be taken by you as any evidence of his GUILT."

#### Instruction 4 (R-273)

"You are instructed that you must now determine whether or not the defendant is GUILTY of being an habitual criminal. To this allegation, the defendant has entered a plea of not guilty which casts upon the state the burden of proving his GUILT beyond a reasonable doubt."

**Instruction 10 (R-275)**

**"The GUILT of a defendant may not be established alone by any confession...."**

**Instruction 12 (R-276)**

**".... It should not be considered as evidence of his GUILT or his innocence. The failure of the defendant to testify is not even a circumstance against him, and no presumption of GUILT can be indulged in by the jury...."**

**Instruction 13 (R-277)**

**"...and a man is presumed to be innocent until he is proved GUILTY beyond a reasonable doubt. And in case of a reasonable doubt as to whether his GUILT is satisfactorily shown, he is entitled to an acquittal."**

**"....you can candidly say that you are not satisfied of the defendant's GUILT, you have a reasonable doubt...."**

**"To warrant you in convicting the defendant, the evidence must, to you minds, exclude every reasonable hypotheses other than that of the GUILT of the defendant....you can reasonably explain the facts given in evidence on any reasonable ground other than the GUILT of the defendant, you should acquit him."**

**Counsel submit to the court that the word "status" should have been used in lieu of the word "guilt." That the use of the word "guilt" in the above instructions was ambiguous and uncertain and could have been reasonably construed by the jury that a crime was charged and thus was prejudicial. The statute**

in question, 76-1-18, Utah Code Annotated, 1953,  
reads to-wit:

Whoever has been previously twice convicted of felonies, sentenced and committed to any prison, shall upon conviction of a felony committed in this state, other than murder in the first and second degree, BE DEEMED TO BE AN HABITUAL CRIMINAL.

It used the words "be deemed to be an habitual criminal." It does not use the phrase "be guilty of being an habitual criminal." The word "guilt" has the connotation of being convicted of a criminal offense, thereby conveying the wrong impression to the jury.

Counsel concedes that most of the instructions referred to are the stock instructions which are usually given when a crime is being tried; but, because of the unusual nature of the habitual criminal charge the instructions should be carefully worded to fit the situation. The wording used was erroneous and prejudicial.

The trial court also erred in instructions numbers 5, 10 and 13 by using the word "convict". The use of this word again implies to the jury that this

is a criminal offense instead of a status.) In the following instructions the word "convict" was used:

**Instruction 5 (R-273)**

**"Before you may CONVICT the defendant of being an habitual criminal...."**

**"But if there is a reasonable doubt in your mind as to any of the foregoing enumerated allegations, you may not CONVICT the defendant of the status of being an habitual criminal."**

**Instruction 10 (R-275)**

**"....Before any person may be CONVICTED of this offense, there must be proof...."**

**Instruction 13 (R-277)**

**"....to warrant you in CONVICTING the defendant, the evidence must, to your minds, exclude every reasonable hypothesis...."**

The word "deem" should have been used in lieu of the word "convict". Habitual criminal statutes do not authorize any conviction on a charge of being an habitual criminal. The statutes merely prescribe punishment which is to be more severe. 16 Corpus Juris 1339. See also, Corpus Juris Secundum, Vol. 24, Page 1143, which reiterates that this type of statute does not authorize a conviction on a charge of being an habitual criminal, but merely prescribes punishment



for the subsequent offense which is to be more severe.

In *State v Cirius*, 333, Missouri 605, 56 SW2d 72, the court stated:

"These statutes do not create an offense nor authorize a conviction upon the charge of being an habitual criminal. They only provide that in case of a second conviction the penalty to be imposed upon the defendant shall be more severe because by his persistence in the preparation of crime he has evinced a depravity which merits a greater punishment."

See also *State v Hicks* 326 Missouri 885, 33 SW2d 919, which asserts the same proposition. Consequently, it is impossible to obtain a conviction under the habitual criminal statutes and it was prejudicial for the jury to be instructed that they were convicting the defendant when in law they were stigmatizing him as an habitual criminal.

In *Frye v Delmer*, 47 Wash 2d 605, 298 P2d 850, the defendant was charged with the crime of being an habitual criminal and sentenced to the Washington State Prison. A writ of habeas corpus was filed upon which the Supreme Court of Washington held that a conviction of the crime of being an habitual criminal



and judgment and sentence thereon are void for all purposes. The conviction of the crime of being an habitual criminal cannot furnish a foundation for determining that the accused has the status of an habitual criminal. A person's status cannot be founded upon a conviction of a non-existent crime.

This is precisely what happened in the present case. The jury was instructed that the defendant was charged with an offense (crime) for which he could be found guilty and for which the jury did find him guilty.

Having been convicted of a crime, the appellant's status cannot be determined except by a new trial.  
*Frye v Delmar, op cit.*

## POINT II

The trial court committed reversible error in granting a new trial as to the issue of being an habitual criminal and refusing to grant a new trial as to the primary offense resulting in a different jury trying the habitual criminal charge contrary to the procedure required by the Utah Statute.

When the trial court granted a new trial as to the habitual criminal charge, the judge failed to follow the procedure as mandatorily declared in 76-1-19, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which reads as follows:

In charging a person with being an habitual criminal the complaint filed before the committing magistrate SHALL allege the felony committed within the state of Utah and SHALL allege the two or more convictions of felony relied upon by the state of Utah; if the defendant is bound over to the district court for trial, the district attorney SHALL set forth in the information the felony committed within the state of Utah and the two or more previous convictions of felony relied upon by the State of Utah; the jury SHALL not be told of the previous convictions of felony and the trial on the felony committed within the State of Utah SHALL proceed as in other cases; if the jury returns a verdict of guilty, then the defendant SHALL be tried forthwith by the SAME jury upon the issue of whether or not he has been previously twice convicted of felonies, unless the said defendant has entered or enters a plea of guilty to the information or indictment charging said prior convictions.

The crucial phrase counsel emphasizes is "SHALL be tried forthwith by the SAME jury." Counsel contends that this word "SHALL" is mandatory, leaving nothing to the discretion of the trial court. The trial court committed error by splitting the issues when a partial new trial was granted. When a mis-

trial is granted, the Utah statute does not make an exception to the procedure required in trying an habitual criminal. In such an instance it is clear that the trial judge would have no discretion. He must either overrule the motion for a new trial or grant a new trial to both pages of the information. In the present case the trial court disregarded the Utah statute by severing the issues, and this severance was in error. Counsel maintains that the concept of non-severability is supported by both statutory construction and case law.

Reference is first made to the statutory construction, particularly the word "shall." It will be noted that "shall" is employed six different places in the aforementioned procedural statute including the particular "shall" with which we are concerned.

It goes without saying that "shall" when used in statutory provisions is generally construed as mandatory. *People v William*, 145 P2d 366. In case of doubt, the presumption is that it is mandatory. *Swift v Smith*, 119 Cole 126, 201 P2d 609. There

seems to be little question that the other "shalls" are used in the mandatory sense and it would equally follow that the sixth "shall" with which we are particularly concerned was similarly to be construed as mandatory.

To arrive at this conclusion, one needs only to look into the context in which the other "shalls" are employed. It would be impossible to construe such words as being anything but mandatory, and it would be equally inconsistent to say that one legislature would use the word "shall" as mandatory five times in the statute and when used the sixth time it was only meant to be discretionary.

Thus, when the legislative intent is clearly indicated that the word "shall" as used in a statute or rule of procedure is intended to be mandatory, it is inconsistent with any idea of discretion and it is mandatory. *Jaynes v Lee*, 306 SW2d 182. Such intent is clearly shown in our statute.

The question might also arise that the legislature did not anticipate the problem which we now are dealing with; however, the legislature did consider it necessary to make one exception to the pre-

cedure required. This exception was that the same jury would not be required to ascertain the defendant's status if he had entered a plea of guilty. This exception appears so obvious that it would seem unnecessary to specifically state it; nevertheless, it becomes important in this case because it doubly emphasizes that the only exception to the procedure designated is in the case when the defendant pleads guilty and that no other exception of any kind was intended.

Consequently, when the procedure for charging one as an habitual criminal is proscribed by statute, it should be strictly pursued because of the serious consequences of a conviction of being an habitual criminal. *People v Brown*, 253 Mich 537, 235 NW 245. 24 Corpus Juris Secundum 1167; 25 American Jurisprudence 270; 5 Wharton's Criminal Procedure 440.

Also, a separate proceeding charging accused as an habitual criminal is criminal in nature, and in absence of waiver thereof there must be strict compliance with the statutory requirements relating to the supplementary proceedings. 24 Corpus Juris Secundum 1168.

A question might arise as to the fact that the defendant waived his right of having the same jury try both issues. In this connection reference is made to page 229 of the record which has heretofore been quoted on page 2 and 3 of this brief. Here the defendant expressly reserved all rights to object to the full procedure used by the trial court.

Consequently, taking the procedure as set forth in our statute and no waiver appearing, the action by the trial court was definitely erroneous; however, reference is made to case law to further impress this court that other jurisdiction, without the aid of such statute, has nevertheless held that trial by the same jury is necessary.

Before the present Utah statute was enacted in 1951, the Utah Supreme Court in a leading case before the court in 1956 set forth the exact procedure presently contained in 76-1-19, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and stated that this was the only fair procedure to be used in such cases. The following is a direct quote taken from State v Stewart, 110

Utah 203, 171 P2d 383:

"If the jury renders a verdict of guilty, then the second phase of the trial should be conducted before the SAME jury unless the defendant waives a jury trial on such matters."

This rule comes from the English procedure which was endorsed by the American authorities in an early Connecticut case, *State v Ferrone*, 96 Conn 160, 113 A 457. This stands as a landmark case in the procedure field dealing with habitual criminal statutes.

It is necessary to go into another aspect of the theory behind the habitual criminal statutes to realize the importance and the necessity of such procedure. It is the defendant's insistent contention that the main offense and the habitual criminal charge are non-severable in Utah. As was announced in *People v Collins*, 117 Cal App 2d 237, 255 P2d 65:

"The whole spirit and intent of these statutes appear to be that a prior conviction charge is to be determined solely as one of the issues in the trial for the new offense."

In the English case, *Ex v Hunter*, 1 K B 555, CCA, the following was stated:



"The charge of being an habitual criminal is not a charge of a substantive offense; its only for the principal offense. It follows therefore, that there could not be separate juries trying the two issues, but that the same jury which tried the principle offense must also try the issue of the previous conviction."

The origin of the statute largely comes from our English counterparts.

A review of the authorities reveals that the cases on this point are in hopeless confusion. The diverse statutes, in effect at varying times and places, can partly explain this confusion. An example of this confusion is found in the State of California, in the case of *People v Morton*, 259 P2d 100, wherein the court delved fully into this problem and devoted a lengthy discussion on the orders which should be properly given. Although this case was subsequently modified in *People v Morton*, 41 Cal2d 636, 261 P2d 523, the discussion by the court is especially applicable to the question hereon appeal.

In the first *Morton* case the California District Court of Appeal found that the portion



of the judgement adjudicating the defendant to be an habitual criminal was based upon incompetent evidence and thus necessitated a reversal. The precise question confronting the court was:

"In view of this prejudicial error what order should be made by this court? On this question the cases are in hopeless conflict. The parties are agreed that at different times the courts of this state have solved the problem in at least four different ways."

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