1959

State of Utah v. Jack Zimer : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent agrees with appellant's statements of facts.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL
ERROR IN THE LANGUAGE USED IN HIS INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL
ERROR IN GRANTING A NEW TRIAL ONLY AS TO

THE ISSUE OF WHETHER DEFENDANT WAS AN HABITUAL CRIMINAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN THE LANGUAGE USED IN HIS INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY.

Respondent readily admits that the Trial Judge used words which are inartistic. However, respondent cannot see how the jury could have misunderstood its rather simple obligation in this case or how the words "guilt," "guilty," "convict," "convicted," "convicting" and "offense" could have misled them. The jury's members were not trained lawyers, and while such words have rather specific significance in the minds of attorneys and judges, they do not bear the same meanings to the minds of laymen.

It would not seem to the jury at all out of line for the judge to use the term "offense" in relation to one's having the status of habitual criminal, nor would it seem at all odd for him to use the terms "guilt" or "guilty" with reference to such a status.

Even the term "convict" used as a verb, is not sufficiently precise in the mind of a lay person to cause him to regard the status of habitual criminal as being a crime when it is not actually called a crime in the instructions.

The courts are aware that judges must deliver their instructions in a timely way and cannot fully avoid an occasional misuse of a word or a phrase. 23 C.J.S., Sec. 1300, page 881,

states:

“A large discretion is vested in the trial judge as to the language to be used in expounding principles of law. The exactness of statement which is required in pleadings is not necessary.”

And on the next page, the text continues:

“An instruction is not erroneous because of verbal or technical inaccuracies or mistakes which are not misleading to the jury or prejudicial to the rights of the accused.”

As to the usage of particular words, our Utah Court has not said a great deal. However, in the case of *State v. Cerar*, 60 U. 208, 207 P. 597, the court discussed the matter of a judge using an instruction containing the word “can” where the statute upon which his instruction was based used the term “must.” The court concluded that while the language of the statute had not been used, that it reflected the true intent and purpose of the statute and said:

“Any juror with sufficient intelligence to sit in any case could not be misled by what the court said.”

Clearly the jury in this case could not have been misled as to the necessity of determining defendant’s status.

Moreover, even if the jury thought that being an habitual criminal was a “crime” instead of a “status,” still the defendant’s rights could not have been prejudiced, since the jury would not have been less inclined to give a defendant fair consideration when trying him for a crime than when making a determination as to his status.

Instructions aside, defendant was not charged in the in-

formation with having committed any supposed "crime" of habitual criminal. While it is true that the usual printed information form was used, the actual wording typed in the information was "that the said defendant is a habitual criminal." Nowhere on page 2 of the information is any reference made to any supposed "crime" of habitual criminal. R. 14.

Furthermore, the sentence and judgment ordering defendant to serve a term in the Utah State Prison refers to "status of an habitual criminal." R. 73, R. 75.

From a consideration of the language used in the information and in the sentence and judgment, and verdict R. 56, it is difficult to see how appellant successfully can allege that he was convicted of a "crime" of habitual criminal, regardless of the terms used in the instructions.

There can be no doubt that the information, along with the sentence and judgment, and verdict must prevail over the instructions in determining whether the habitual criminal proceeding was held to determine the perpetration of a crime or the existence of a status.

In the Washington case of *Williams v. Smith*, 171 P.2d 197, the court held that a form of verdict finding defendant guilty of the "crime of being an habitual criminal" was technically improper, but did not affect any of his substantial rights, and was sufficient to fix his status as habitual criminal. Reasoning therefrom it would seem to be immaterial whether or not the jury thought it was determining a crime or a status.

Assuming, but not admitting, that improper language was used in the instructions, still, respondent does not believe that any such possible error can reasonably be considered prejudicial

to the substantive right of the defendant to a fair trial.

Furthermore, respondent is unable to see, considering all the instructions given at the trial, and regarding them as a whole, as well as the pleadings in the case, how appellant has suffered any loss of substantive rights or that the Judge committed prejudicial error.

After hearing all the instructions read, the jury knew that its one simple function was to determine whether or not the appellant had committed two previous crimes for which he had been sentenced to prison, (the instant conviction for burglary having been stipulated to by counsel), and whether or not, therefore, he had achieved the status of habitual criminal.

It is, of course, necessary that all of the instructions be construed as a whole. See *State v. Evans*, 74 Utah 389, 279 P. 950.

In its first instruction, R. 59, the Judge used the following language:

"You are instructed that the defendant, Jack Zeimer, is charged by page two of the information filed herein of being in the status of an habitual criminal. * * *"

It will be observed that the Judge was very careful to use the phrase "being in the *status* of an habitual criminal." Nowhere does any part of the instruction use the term "crime." This instruction is of primary importance because it is the one which actually sets out the allegations of page 2 of the information, and which informs the jury of the issue to be defined.

Instruction No. 8, R. 64, states as follows:

“The term ‘habitual criminal’ is defined as follows: Whoever has been previously twice convicted of felonies sentenced and committed to any prison, shall, upon conviction of a felony committed in this state, other than murder in the first or second degree, be deemed to be an habitual criminal.”

It will be observed that this is the proper legal definition of the term “habitual criminal,” and in it the judge was careful to use the term “be *deemed* to be an habitual criminal.” The word “deemed” certainly is more consistent with status than with crime.

Some consideration should be given to Instruction No. 5, R. 61, of which instruction, as a whole, appellant complains. In paragraph 1 thereof the court uses the term “being an habitual criminal,” and in the last paragraph of the instruction, uses the expression “status of being an habitual criminal.”

Clearly, the instructions of which appellant complains must be considered in conjunction with those from which we have just quoted. That is to say, all instructions are to be considered together. *State v. Evans*, *supra*.

In *State v. Siddoway*, 61 U. 189, 211 P. 968, the Court’s opinion stated in part as follows:

“Instructions must be considered as a whole and so the court informed the jury. Taking the instructions together, no good reason occurs to us for believing that jurors endowed with common sense and average intelligence could misunderstand, misconstrue or misapply them.”

General rules of law which apply to instructions used in

criminal cases would seem to apply to instructions given in a proceeding such as the one at hand. Therefore the respondent calls to the attention of the Court the case of *Bridges v. United States*, 199 F. 2d 811, wherein the court states:

"Instructions given in a criminal prosecution may not be taken apart and a phrase here and clause, or even a sentence or paragraph there, used to find error."

The following cases, among many others, stand for the proposition that the instructions are to be considered as a whole: *State v. Hansen* (Ida.), 181 P. 2d 192; *People v. Marsh* (Ill.), 85 N.E. 2d 715; *Taylor v. State* (Okla.), 208 P. 2d 185; *State v. Hendricks*, 123 Utah 267, 258 P. 2d 452.

The Marsh case states:

"Accuracy in the use of language in an instruction containing a correct proposition of law would, of course, be desirable, but it is not always obtainable. For that reason we announced the rule that it is sufficient if the series of instructions, considered as a whole, fully and fairly announce the law applicable to the theories of the People and of the defendant, respectively. *People v. DeRosa*, 378 Ill. 557, 39 N.E. 2d 1; *People v. Hichette*, 324 Ill. 170, 155 N.E. 39."

The holding in the Taylor case is particularly interesting in that it holds that where it appeared that the instruction complained of "was most poorly worded," but not misleading in light of *all* the instructions, it did not constitute reversible error. In the instant case the main problem also appears only to be a matter of poor wording in the instructions.

Each instruction used was given with the intent and the

effect of assuring a fair and just trial of the issues. Many of them are regular instructions uniformly given for the protection of those accused of crimes. They also are equally applicable to those accused of having attained a status. Not only are they not prejudicial instructions, but instead are statements calculated only to assure free and fair consideration of the defendant's cause. They were favorable to him rather than unfavorable when considered as a whole.

It should also be pointed out that the defendant's attorney had the opportunity to ask for any additional instructions which might clarify the group of instructions as a whole.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN GRANTING A NEW TRIAL ONLY AS TO THE ISSUE OF WHETHER DEFENDANT WAS AN HABITUAL CRIMINAL.

Respondent recognizes and admits that the proper procedure to be followed in determining the status of one alleged to be an habitual criminal is that set forth in Section 76-1-19, U.C.A. 1953.

We believe, however, that this statute applies only to the original instance comprising the trial upon the substantive charge and the accompanying proceeding to determine the defendant's status, whether as an habitual criminal or not.

Respondent does not believe that the statute has mandatory application in a situation such as the one at hand where, for one reason or another, the court has found it necessary to order a new proceeding only as to the single issue of defendant's habitual criminal status.

An analogous situation is seen in the case of *State v. Lee Lim*, 76 U. 68, 7 P. 2d 825. There a defendant was sentenced to the state prison on a plea of guilty to a charge of murder in the second degree. He later was released on habeas corpus proceedings because the sentence had been improper, even though imposed within the statutory period. Defendant thereupon was rearrested and upon the basis of his prior plea, resented, this time properly, to the state prison.

On his appeal to the Supreme Court, defendant urged that our statute requiring that sentence be imposed during a period between two and ten days after the conclusion of the trial prevented his now being sentenced, since a period of three and one-half years had passed since the original trial. In disposing of this argument the court stated that:

"It is apparent that Section 9041 of our Code has no application to a case where the trial court in good faith attempted to follow the law but through mistake entered a void judgment instead of a valid one. Our Legislature, however, has made provision with respect to errors and mistakes in the administration of the criminal law in the following language: 'Neither a departure from the form nor mode prescribed by this Code in respect to any pleading or proceeding, nor any error or mistake therein, shall render it invalid unless it shall have actually resulted in a miscarriage of justice.' Comp. Laws of Utah 1917, Sec. 9365."

See present statute: 77-53-2, U.C.A. 1953.

By the same token the Court in the case at bar did, in fact, follow the required statutory procedure in the original instance. The substantive charge appearing on page 1 of the indictment was tried separately by the same jury from the habitual criminal issue appearing on page 2 of the indictment.

The reasoning in *State v. Lee Lim.*, therefore, would appear to be applicable in the instant case. Here a bona fide effort was made to follow the precise terms of our statute, but because of a mistake made in the habitual criminal aspect of the original trial, the court deemed it necessary to declare a mistrial as to that issue only, and as to it to require a second trial, which of necessity had to be by a separate jury.

Clearly, the Legislature simply did not foresee this exact situation and for that reason failed to make any provision to cover the matter at hand.

Appellant refers to two California cases, both entitled *People v. Morton*. The later Morton case, 41 Cal. 2d 636, 261 P. 2d 523, was decided in 1953. It would appear to be controlling over the other cases cited in appellant's brief and, in fact, gives much consideration to each of the procedural steps suggested in appellant's brief.

The case clearly sets out the proper procedure under the California statute and in so doing affords us some interesting and helpful reasoning. There a defendant was convicted of three counts of first degree burglary and one count of attempted burglary in first degree, for which he was sentenced to serve consecutive terms. In the same proceeding he was adjudged an habitual criminal. His appeal was merely from that part of the judgment adjudging him an habitual criminal and from an order denying his motion for a new trial on the issue of one of the prior convictions. Therefore, while not identical with the instant case, it is closely analogous.

There the court used the following language:

“When the sole question on remand from an appellate court involves the proof of an alleged prior conviction, there is no reason to require the parties to re-try the

question of guilt of the primary offenses when the correctness of the determination of this question is not challenged by either party. There is nothing prejudicial involved in a limited new trial on the issue of the challenged prior conviction by a jury different from that which tried the issue of guilt of the primary offenses. That issue and the proof of prior convictions are clearly severable. *McVickers*, supra; *In Re Seeley*, 29 Cal. 2d 294, 176 P. 2d 24; *People v. Carrow*, supra. Proof of prior convictions or the adjudication that the defendant is an habitual criminal do not involve substantive offenses, but merely provide for increased punishment of those whose prior convictions fall within the scope of these statutes. *In Re McVickers*, supra, 29 Cal. 2d 264, 270-271, 176 P. 2d 40, 44-45, and references cited there. The important relation between the primary offenses and the prior convictions charged is therefore the sentence to be imposed and the jury does not participate in that."

Respondent does not dispute appellant's contention that the California statute in force at the time of the above opinion did not require the trial of the two issues by the same jury. However, appellant reiterates his view that under the Utah statute the trial of the two issues by the same jury is mandatory only in the original instance. Therefore, assuming this, the opinion of the California court should be accorded great weight.

A primary purpose in having the defendant tried on both phases of the case by a single jury might well be that of determining the question of habitual criminal in a timely manner in order that the sentence might be imposed within the statutory period, thus eliminating delays that might come from the impanelling of a new jury and the conducting of a new trial.

In *State v. Stewart*, 110 Utah 203, 171 P. 2d 383 (after

setting out the procedure to be followed in trying a defendant accused of being an habitual criminal—which procedure is substantially the same as that now required by our statute), the court says at page 387:

“While safeguarding the rights of the accused, such procedure does not offend any principle of orderly procedure nor tend to delay justice.”

The Court, at another point in its opinion, indicated clearly that the substantive right sought to be guarded by the statute was to be relieved of being advertised to the jury as one who had previously been convicted of the new offense. Respondent is not aware how this right can better be provided a defendant through having the main issue and the question of habitual criminal tried by the same jury.

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